
i

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL
PENNS PLACE
PETERSFIELD
HAMPSHIRE 
GU31 4EX

Telephone: 01730 266551
Website: www.easthants.gov.uk

DEVELOPMENT POLICY AND AFFORDABLE HOUSING 
PANEL AGENDA

Date: Wednesday 25 October 2017  

Time: 6.30 pm

Venue: Council Chamber, Penns Place, Petersfield, GU31 4EX

Membership: Councillor S Pond (Chairman)

Councillors A Glass (Vice-Chairman), R Ayer, K Carter, D Evans, L Evans, G Hill, 
K Moon, S Schillemore, G Shepherd, I Thomas and A Williams

Reserves: Councillors D Brooks Jackson and C Louisson

The business to be transacted is set out below: 

Nick Leach
Monitoring Officer

Date of Publication: 17 October 2017

Contact Officer: Cynthia Haveron, Democratic Services Officer, 01730 234092
Email:  Cynthia.haveron@easthants.gov.uk



ii

Pages
1 Apologies for Absence  

To receive apologies for absence. 

2 Chairman's Announcements  

To receive any announcements the Chairman may wish to make for 
information. 

3 Declarations of Interest  

To receive and record any declarations of interest from members 
present in respect of any of the various matters on the agenda for this 
meeting. 

4 Confirmation of the Minutes  

Democratic Services, of any questions they wish to raise in respect of 
the Minutes.

Minutes of the previous meeting held on 19 July 2017, previously 
circulated.
 

5 Joint Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area 
Supplementary Planning Procurement  

The Panel are asked to:

i) provide comments on the draft Joint Wealden Heaths Phase 
II Special Protection Area Supplementary Planning Document 
(Appendix A of this Report); and

ii) note that an eight week public consultation on the draft Joint 
Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area 
Supplementary Planning Document is undertaken in Autumn 
2017.

 

1 - 28

6 Residential Extensions and Householders Development 
Supplementary Planning Document  

The Panel are asked to: 

iii) provide comments on the draft Residential Extensions and 
Householder Development Supplementary Planning 
Document (Appendix A of this Report); and

iv) note that an eight week public consultation on the draft SPD 
will be undertaken in Autumn 2017.

 

29 - 56



iii

7 STRATEGIC HOUSING LAND AVAILABILITY ASSESSMENT 
(SHLAA) Call for Sites  

The report is to inform Councillors on the findings from the Strategic 
Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) – ‘Call for Sites’ that 
was conducted from 16 April 2017 to 30 May 2017. The report will 
also identify any new sites that are being promoted for development 
(outside the SDNPA).

FOR DECISION 

57 - 62

8 Vehicle Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document  

In July 2017, Development Policy and Affordable Housing Panel 
provided comments on the draft Vehicle Parking Standards 
Supplementary Planning Document (VPS SPD) and noted that a six 
week public consultation on the draft Vehicle Parking Standards SPD 
would follow later this year.  The report noted the VPS SPD’s 
relationship with the South Downs National Park and the Alton 
Neighbourhood Plan Area. 

To clarify the detail of the relationship with the Alton Neighbourhood 
Plan (2015), and to provide clarity on Policies TR3 and TR5 in the 
Alton Neighbourhood Plan which consider parking provision and 
standards, a guidance note has been prepared following dialogue 
with East Hampshire District Council and has been agreed by Alton 
Town Council Planning and Transport committee (20 September 
2017). The guidance document is available to view on Alton Town 
Council’s website, and is scheduled for ratification by Alton Town 
Council (Full Council) on 25 October 2017. 

The draft VPS SPD will make reference to this guidance note. 

FOR INFORMATION 

9 External Consultations  

Officers will inform panel members that they are currently preparing:

a planning service response to the South Downs National Park Pre 
Submission Local Plan. 

a response to the CLG consultation “New planning approach to speed 
up delivering homes”

FOR INFORMATION 

http://www.alton.gov.uk/Planning__and__Transportation_Committee_6468.aspx
http://www.alton.gov.uk/Planning__and__Transportation_Committee_6468.aspx


iv

GENERAL INFORMATION

IF YOU WOULD LIKE A VERSION OF THIS AGENDA, OR 
ANY OF ITS REPORTS, IN LARGE PRINT, BRAILLE, 
AUDIO OR IN ANOTHER LANGUAGE PLEASE CONTACT 
DEMOCRATIC SERVICES ON 01730 234073.

Internet

This agenda and its accompanying reports can also be found on the East 
Hampshire District Council website: www.easthants.gov.uk

Public Attendance and Participation

Members of the public are welcome to attend and observe the meetings. 
Many of the Council’s meetings allow the public to make deputations on 
matters included in the agenda. Rules govern this procedure and for further 
information please get in touch with the contact officer for this agenda. 

Disabled Access

All meeting venues have full access and facilities for the disabled.

Emergency Procedure

Please ensure that you are familiar with the location of all emergency exits 
which are clearly marked. In the unlikely event of an emergency an alarm will 
sound.

PLEASE EVACUATE THE BUILDING IMMEDIATELY.

DO NOT RE-ENTER THE BUILDING UNTIL AUTHORISED TO DO SO.

No Smoking Policy

All meeting venues operate a no smoking policy on all premises and ground

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/


NON EXEMPT

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT POLICY AND 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING PANEL

25 OCTOBER 2017

The draft Joint Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area 
Supplementary Planning Document.

Report by Planning Policy

Portfolio: Planning – Cllr Angela Glass 

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to Councillors the draft Joint Wealden 
Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD). It has been prepared by officers and agreed with the SDNPA, to provide 
guidance to applicants where development proposals in the district will result in a 
net increase in residential development (including Traveller Accommodation) 
within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area 
(SPA).

1.2 Appendix A accompanying this report contains the draft Joint Wealden Heaths 
Phase II Special Protection Area Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
which upon adoption will be a material planning consideration, elaborating upon 
Joint Core Strategy Policies CP14: Affordable Housing in Rural Communities, 
CP15: Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople and CP22: Internationally 
Designated Sites.

2.0 Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that the Panel:

i) provides comments on the draft Joint Wealden Heaths Phase II Special 
Protection Area Supplementary Planning Document (Appendix A of this 
Report);

ii) notes that an eight week public consultation on the draft Joint Wealden 
Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area Supplementary Planning 
Document is undertaken in Autumn 2017.

3.0 Summary

3.1 The Joint Supplementary Planning Document sets out the approach the Council 
and SDNPA will take to help meet the needs for residential uses where the need 
cannot be met solely outside of the 400 metre SPA buffer zone (specifically 



NON EXEMPT

Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation and rural affordable 
housing exception sites).  The SPD relates to the whole of East Hampshire 
District including those parts within the South Downs National Park Authority 
area.

3.2 The Joint SPD sets out the evidence base supporting the need to safeguard SPA 
capacity.   It also sets out the circumstances when planning permission is likely to 
be refused for development within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II 
SPA.

4.0 Subject of Report

4.1.1 As part of plan making and to meet the requirements of the Habitats Regulations, 
the Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy HRA included an analysis of the number of 
dwellings that were likely to be delivered in East Hampshire (including the part 
covering the South Downs National Park) over the plan period until 2028 to 
assess if there was likely to be a significant adverse effect on a Natura 2000 site.  
This was based on a statistical analysis and considered that approximately 33 
windfall dwellings (cumulatively and on schemes of 5 or less dwellings) could be 
expected to come forward during the plan period and would be unlikely to have 
an impact on the SPA.

4.1.2 However, monitoring of the early years of the plan period has demonstrated that 
a significant number of windfall schemes for dwellings have been granted 
planning permission within the 400 metre SPA buffer zone. Therefore, in 2015 
with the support from Natural England, East Hampshire District Council 
commissioned work to reassess the windfall allowance within 400 metres of the 
Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA using an updated methodology.  The results of 
this work demonstrated that the windfall allowance could be increased to 43 
dwellings.  However, a significant proportion of this windfall allowance (26 
dwellings) has already been used. 

 
4.1.4 Evidence indicates that both planning authorities need to provide additional 

accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople and to meet 
local affordable housing needs. The evidence also indicates that in order to meet 
this need development within the 400 metre buffer zone is going to be required. 

4.1.5 A Joint SPD between East Hampshire District Council and the South Downs 
National Park Authority is therefore proposed. The purpose of the SPD is to 
safeguard the Special Protection Area (protected under the EC Habitats 
Directive) windfall allowance within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II 
Special Protection Area for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople 
accommodation and rural exception affordable housing as the need for these 
uses cannot be solely met outside of the 400 metre buffer zone. The safeguarded 
allowance will be used to deliver residential uses where the need cannot be met 
solely outside of the 400 metre buffer zone (specifically Gypsy, Traveller and 
Travelling Showpeople accommodation and affordable housing) through plan 
making and decision taking.

4.1.6 The Joint SPD will be available for public consultation for a period of 8 weeks in 
line with the South Downs National Park Authority Statement of Community 
Invovlement (SCI).  It will be advertised on the East Hampshire District Council 



NON EXEMPT

and South Downs National Park Authority websites.  Consultation will be 
managed by the East Hampshire District Council Planning Policy Team. 

5.0 Implications 

5.1 Resources:  The consultation will be run by using existing resource within the 
Planning Policy Team. The consultation will be advertised which will incur a small 
fee, however, all costs are covered by existing resources and budgets.

5.2 Legal:  The Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA needs to be considered under the UK 
Habitats Regulations.  As Competent Authority, the Council and South Downs 
National Park Authority are helping to meet the needs for residential uses where 
the need cannot be met solely outside of the 400 metre SPA buffer zone 
(specifically Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation and 
rural affordable housing exception sites).  This approach is supported by Natural 
England.  We have also sought informal legal advice and the feedback is to 
produce a Supplementary Planning Document.

5.2.1 The SPD will be produced in compliance with the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

5.3 Strategy: The SPD, when adopted, will be a material planning consideration. 
The Joint SPD wiill facilitate the Council and South Downs National Park 
Authority in meeting the needs of the local community either through decision- 
taking or plan-making. 

5.4 Risks: There is a risk that if both Councils continue to grant planning permission 
for residential applications within the 400 metre buffer, when it comes to allocate 
sites or grant planning permission for the above mentioned uses there may be a 
restriction of no further residential development within the 400 metre buffer.

5.4.1 Legal challenge, as SPDs must be prepared in accordance with the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

5.6 Communications: Natural England are supportive of this approach. The Joint 
SPD has been prepared with the SDNPA. DPP received a verbal update on 19 
April 2017 and supported the precautionary approach. The draft SPD will be 
subject to eight weeks public consultation. The consultation will be carried out in 
accordance with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (2015).

Appendices:

Appendix A
Draft Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area Supplementary Planning 
Document

Background Papers:

Agreed and signed off by:

Head of Planning: Simon Jenkins (Signed off 15.09.17)

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/PD02StatementCommunityInvolvement.pdf


NON EXEMPT

Legal Services: Gina Homewood (Signed off 27.09.17)
Finance: Andy Miles (Signed off 4.10.17)
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Angela Glass (Signed off 14.09.17)

Contact Officer: Amanda Dunn
Job Title:        Principal Policy Planner
Telephone:        01730 234213
E-Mail:        Amanda.dunn@easthants.gov.uk



1

CONTENT
PAGE NO.

1.0 CONSULTATION .................................................................................................................................2

2.0 INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................3

WHAT IS A SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD)?...........................................................................................3
WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THIS SPD?..........................................................................................................................3
NATIONAL POLICY CONTEXT ......................................................................................................................................3
LOCAL POLICY CONTEXT............................................................................................................................................4

3.0 WHY SAFEGUARD THE REMAINING CAPACITY? ..................................................................................5

NEED FOR GYPSY, TRAVELLER AND TRAVELLING SHOWPEOPLE ACCOMMODATION................................................................6
AFFORDABLE HOUSING NEED ....................................................................................................................................9
SUMMARY OF EVIDENCE .........................................................................................................................................10
POLICY APPROACH.................................................................................................................................................10
PLAN MAKING.......................................................................................................................................................10
DECISION TAKING ..................................................................................................................................................11

4.0 GLOSSARY........................................................................................................................................12

5.0 APPENDIX A – MAP SHOWING THE LOCATION OF THE WEALDEN HEATHS PHASE II SPA AND ITS 400 
METRE BUFFER ZONE ......................................................................................................................14

6.0 APPENDIX B – POTENTIAL FOR ALTERING THE NUMBER OF NEW DWELLINGS ALLOWED WITHIN 
400M OF THE WEALDEN HEATHS PHASE 2 SPA (NOVEMBER 2015)..................................................15

LIMITATIONS...............................................................................................................................................18
1  SCOPE ....................................................................................................................................................19
2  BACKGROUND .........................................................................................................................................19
3  CLARIFYING THE TOTAL CURRENT HOUSING STOCK WITHIN 400M OF THE SPA......................................................20
4  VALIDITY OF INCLUDING GYPSY AND TRAVELLER SITES .......................................................................................20
5  EXAMINING PRECEDENTS AROUND OTHER SPAS .............................................................................................21
6  JUSTIFICATION FOR USING ‘APPROXIMATELY 30 DWELLINGS’ AS A CAP ON NEW HOUSING .......................................22
7  CONCLUSION ...........................................................................................................................................23



2

1.0 CONSULTATION  

1.1 The adopted East Hampshire District Local Plan Part 1: Joint Core Strategy sets out 
the development strategy for East Hampshire District (including the areas in the 
South Downs National Park) up until 2028.  

1.2 This draft Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) provides guidance for applicants where development proposals will 
result in a net increase in residential development (including Traveller 
Accommodation) within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II Special 
Protection Area (SPA). The document sets out the approach that East Hampshire 
District Council (“the Council”) and the South Downs National Park Authority (“the 
SDNPA”) will take to help meet the need for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople accommodation and rural affordable housing exception sites as this 
need cannot be met solely outside of the 400 metre buffer zone.

1.3 This document does not apply to developments outside of the 400 metre buffer zone 
of the Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area (SPA).

1.4 This draft Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) is available for public consultation for a period of eight weeks 
between XXXX and XXXX

1.5 Comments can be submitted:

Through our online portal:  http://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/
By email:  localplan@easthants.gov.uk 
By writing in person to:

Planning Policy
East Hampshire District Council,
Penns Place,
Petersfield, 
Hampshire, GU31 4EX

Please note:  the comments received during this consultation cannot be treated as 
confidential so please do not include any personal information within your comments. 
Responses will be published on the Council’s website, together with the name and/or 
organisation name of the respondent.

http://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/
mailto:localplan@easthants.gov.uk


3

2.0 INTRODUCTION

What is a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)?

2.1 A Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) elaborates upon policies in the 
Development Plan, in this instance the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint 
Core Strategy (JCS) 2011-2028 (adopted in June 2015).   SPDs are one of the 
material considerations that can be taken into account when determining a planning 
application.

2.2 This SPD elaborates upon the following East Hampshire District Joint Core Strategy 
Policies:

 CP14: Affordable Housing in Rural Communities
 CP15: Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople 
 CP22: Internationally Designated Sites

2.3 This SPD relates to the whole of East Hampshire District including those parts within 
the South Downs National Park Authority area. 

What is the purpose of this SPD?

2.4 The purpose of this Joint Supplementary Planning Document is to provide guidance 
for applicants where development proposals will result in a net increase in residential 
development (including Traveller Accommodation) within 400 metres of the Wealden 
Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area (SPA). 

2.5 It sets out the approach that the Council and the South Downs National Park 
Authority (SDNPA) will take to help meet the needs for residential uses where the 
need cannot be met solely outside of the 400 metre buffer zone (specifically Gypsy, 
Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation and rural affordable housing 
exception sites).

2.6 It also sets out the circumstances when planning permission is likely to be refused for 
development within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA.

2.7 Appendix A displays a map showing the location of the Wealden Heaths Phase II 
SPA and the 400 metre buffer zone. If you are unsure whether land that you have an 
interest in is located within the 400 metre buffer zone you can check using our online 
mapping system by selecting the Planning Policy Layers and selecting CP22 
Internationally Designated Sites. 

National Policy Context

National Planning Policy Framework

2.8 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out government planning 
policies that must be taken into account in the preparation of Local Plans and is a 
material consideration in planning decisions.  This SPD should be prepared in 
accordance with the policy context set out in the NPPF.

http://maps.easthants.gov.uk/easthampshire.aspx
http://maps.easthants.gov.uk/easthampshire.aspx


4

2.9 Paragraph 54 of the NPPF requires “…local planning authorities to be responsive to 
local circumstances and plan housing development to reflect local needs, particularly 
for affordable housing, including through rural exception sites where appropriate…”.

  
2.10 Paragraph 119 of the NPPF states that “The presumption in favour of sustainable 

development (paragraph 14) does not apply where development requiring 
appropriate assessment under the Birds or Habitats Directive is being considered, 
planned or determined.”   

Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (August 2015)

2.11 The Planning Policy for Traveller Sites (PPTS) sets out guidance for traveller sites 
and should be read in conjunction with the NPPF.

2.12 The PPTS states that “local planning authorities should, in producing Local Plans, 
identify and update annually, a supply of specific deliverable sites” (Policy B, 
Paragraph 10).

Local Policy Context

2.13 The East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (JCS) 2011-2028 was 
adopted in June 2014.  This was prepared in partnership with the South Downs 
National Park Authority. The following policies are of relevance to this SPD: 

Policy CP14 Affordable Housing for Rural Communities 

2.14 For decision making, Policy CP14 sets out specific criteria to allow affordable 
housing to be delivered outside of the defined settlement policy boundaries. The 
criteria include:

 that there is a proven local affordable housing need in the area; 
 that the development provides dwellings that will be available as affordable 

housing for local people in perpetuity; and
 within the SDNP – there is no conflict with National Park purposes.

2.15 For plan making the supporting text to the policy states that allocated affordable 
housing sites will be designated through the East Hampshire District Local Plan, the 
South Downs National Park Authority Local Plan or Neighbourhood Plans.

Policy CP15 Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople

2.16 Policy CP15 identifies the number of pitches and plots required to meet the 
accommodation needs of Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople during the 
plan period. 

2.17 For decision making Policy CP15 sets out criteria that need to be satisfied for 
planning permission for permanent and transit sites for Gypsies, Travellers and 
Travelling Showpeople to be granted. The criteria includes that the site:

 will meet a need as identified by the accommodation assessment;
 is located conveniently for access to schools, medical services and other 

community facilities; and
 is capable of accommodating the number of caravans/mobile homes proposed.



5

2.18 For plan making the policy states that provision will be made for permanent and 
transit pitches for Gypsy and Travellers and plots for Travelling Showpeople through 
the Local Plan: Allocations and the South Downs National Park Local Plan.

2.19 The Policy states that in allocating sites within the parts of the district outside of the 
South Downs National Park, the Council will seek to provide additional 
accommodation capacity as recommended by the Travellers Accommodation 
Assessment for Hampshire 2013:

 22 permanent pitches for Gypsies and Travellers within the Plan period, located 
within that part of the district north of the National Park;

 2 pitches on sites providing temporary short-term accommodation for Travellers in 
transit, within or outside East Hampshire and as early as possible within the Plan 
period;

 at least 6 plots for Travelling Showpeople on sites within or outside East 
Hampshire and as early as possible in the Plan period. 

2.20 However, in light of recent changes to National Policy, notably the PPTS, the Council 
and the SDNPA commissioned an updated Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) in 2017. The findings of the 
updated GTAA are discussed further in paragraphs 3.7 to 3.11. 

Policy CP22 Internationally Designated Sites

2.21 JCS Policy CP22 Internationally Designated Sites states that any new housing that is 
proposed within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA will be required to 
undertake a project-specific Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA).  This is re-
iterated in its supporting paragraph 7.24.  

2.22 The evidence base that supported JCS Policy CP22 is the JCS Habitats Regulations 
Assessment – Appropriate Assessment Report (July 2013)1, with Chapter 6 
specifically relating to the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA.

2.23 The SDNPA are currently preparing a new Local Plan, and in future any review of the 
EHDC documents will mean that the SPD will need to be updated accordingly. 

3.0 WHY SAFEGUARD THE REMAINING CAPACITY? 

3.1 The Wealden Heaths Phase II is made up of four separate Sites of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSIs) and qualified as a Special Protection Area for its breeding bird 
species. In 1998 the area was classified as a Natura 2000 site.  It is protected from 
adverse impact under the EC Habitats Directive which is interpreted into British law 
by the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations.  

3.2 As part of plan making and to meet the requirements of the Habitats Regulations, the 
Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy HRA included an analysis of the number of dwellings 
that were likely to be delivered in East Hampshire (including the part covering the 
South Downs National Park) over the plan period until 2028 to assess if there was 
likely to be a significant adverse effect on a Natura 2000 site.  This was based on a 
statistical analysis and considered that approximately 33 windfall dwellings 

1 http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/CoreStrategyAAJuly2013.pdf

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/CoreStrategyAAJuly2013.pdf
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/CoreStrategyAAJuly2013.pdf
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/CoreStrategyAAJuly2013.pdf


6

(cumulatively and on schemes of 5 or less dwellings) could be expected to come 
forward during the plan period and would be unlikely to have an impact on the SPA.
  

3.3 However, monitoring of the early years of the plan period has demonstrated that a 
significant number of windfall schemes for dwellings have been granted planning 
permission within the 400 metre buffer zone. Therefore, in 2015 with the support from 
Natural England, East Hampshire District Council commissioned work to reassess 
the windfall allowance within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA using 
an updated methodology.  The results of this work demonstrated that the windfall 
allowance could be increased to 43 dwellings. Appendix B of this document sets out 
the methodology and findings of this further work. The findings have been agreed by 
Natural England.

3.4 However, it is important to note that a significant proportion of this windfall allowance 
(26 dwellings) has already been used as demonstrated by Figure 1 below.

Figure 1: Cumulative planning permissions granted within 400 metres of the 
SPA since May 2014

*partial years monitoring data for 2017/18. A single dwelling received consent between 1st April 2017 
and 26th July 2017.

3.5 Figure 1 demonstrates that as of the 26 July 2017, there is currently capacity for an 
additional 17 dwellings to be accommodated within the 400 metres of the Wealden 
Heaths Phase II SPA buffer zone up until 2028.  

Need for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation

3.6 Within East Hampshire District there are currently 26 known Gypsy and Traveller 
pitches and 32 known Travelling Showpeople plots and a significant proportion of this 
accommodation is located within the 400 metre SPA buffer zone as reflected by 
Table 1 overleaf.



7

Table 1: Existing Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation in 
the district

Site 
requirements

Number of existing 
pitches/plots in 
East Hampshire 

District

Number of existing 
pitches/plots within 
400 metres of the 

SPA

Proportion of 
pitches/plots in the 
district within 400 
metres of the SPA

Gypsy and 
Traveller 
Pitches

26 15 58%

Travelling 
Showpeople 
Plots

32 30 94%

3.7 The recently published Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation 
Assessment (GTAA) (2017) identifies that the need for accommodation for Gypsies, 
Travellers and Travelling Showpeople has increased since the production of the 
previous GTAA (2013) that informed the Joint Core Strategy.

3.8 The recent findings show that the overall level of additional need for those 
households who meet the planning definition of a Gypsy or Traveller is for 25 pitches 
in East Hampshire District Council area, and a further 2 pitches in the area of the 
district falling within South Downs National Park, over the GTAA period (2017 – 
2036). This overall need is made up of households living within other households, 
who are unable to set up separate family units (known as concealed households), 
where there are more than the permitted number of caravans on a pitch (doubling-
up), those wishing to move from bricks and mortar, from teenage children in need of 
a pitch of their own in the next five years, from in-migration and from new household 
formation.  

3.9 The GTAA (2017) findings also show that the overall level of additional need for 
those households who meet the planning definition of a Travelling Showperson is for 
31 additional plots in East Hampshire District Council area, and a further 9 plots in 
the area of the district falling within South Downs National Park, over the GTAA 
period (2017 – 2036). This overall need is made up of concealed families or adults, 
older teenage children who are in need of a plot of their own in the next five years 
and new household formation.

3.10 A number of known existing pitches and plots already lie within the 400 metre SPA 
buffer which fall in the Parishes of Greatham, Grayshott and Bramshott & Liphook.  
Table 2 overleaf sets out the number of sites/yards in each of these Parishes; the 
future need for pitches/plots generated from these known existing sites; and identifies 
if there is any scope for intensifying or expanding these existing sites:



8

Table 2: Summary of known existing Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople accommodation, future need, and scope for 
intensifying/expanding existing sites within 400 metres of the Wealden 
Heaths Phase II SPA buffer

Parish Existing number 
of sites/yards in 
the 400 metre SPA 
buffer

Future need for 
pitches / plots 
generated from 
existing sites 
within the 400 
metres SPA 
buffer (source: 
GTAA 2017)

Scope for 
intensification / 
expansion of 
existing sites within 
the 400 metre SPA 
buffer

Greatham 1 gypsy and 
traveller site 

Approximately 4 
permanent 
pitches required. 

The SDNP Local 
Plan proposes to 
allocate 2 temporary 
pitches to permanent 
and provide a further 
2 new permanent 
pitches on a site in 
Greatham2

Grayshott 4 travelling 
showpeople yards 

Approximately 19 
permanent plots 
required.

2 yards may have 
the potential to 
intensify/expand (this 
includes vacancies).  

Bramshott & 
Liphook

6 gypsy and 
traveller sites &
1 travelling 
showpeople yard 

Approximately 6 
permanent 
pitches required 
for gypsy and 
travellers.  

4 sites may have the 
potential to 
intensify/expand (this 
includes vacancies).

3.11 The table above demonstrates that there is a need for approximately 10 additional 
pitches and  19 plots generated from families located on established gypsy, traveller 
and travelling showpeople sites/yards located within the 400 metre buffer zone and 
that there is the potential to expand 7 of the existing sites/yards to help meet the 
need in these locations. 

3.12 It is important to note, that within the district it has historically been very difficult to 
find sites to allocate for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation. 
This is evidenced by the recent call for sites undertaken for those parts of the district 
outside of the South Downs National Park where only one site was promoted 
(SHLAA Ref HEA021) for up to 6 Travelling Showpeople plots. This site is located 
within the 400 metre buffer zone and adjoins an established development that 
accommodates 7 Travelling Showpeople plots and this is entirely within 400 metres 
of the SPA.

2 The South Downs National Park Local Plan proposes to allocate 4 permanent pitches at Fern Farm, Greatham 
(currently the site has permission for 2 temporary pitches).



9

3.13 The above evidence demonstrates that without safeguarding some of the remaining 
windfall allowance within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA for Gypsy, 
Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation, the ability of both planning 
authorities to meet the districts identified needs for such accommodation will be 
constrained.  

Affordable Housing Need 

3.14 East Hampshire District has high property prices and therefore affordability of homes 
is an issue in the district with the SHMA (2013) identifying that the house prices in the 
district were at 9.99 times median earnings at the time of publication. In addition, the 
high level of affordable housing need is documented in the Inspectors Report into the 
Joint Core Strategy (paragraph 24). 

3.15 Whilst Joint Core Strategy Policy CP14 requires residential developments to provide 
affordable housing provision at either 35% or 40% dependant upon location, there 
are some locations within the district where this policy will not meet local affordable 
housing needs. 

3.16 There are a number of parishes in the district where there is insufficient existing or 
planned provision of affordable housing to meet the needs of those people on the 
affordable housing register (Hampshire Home Choice) that have a local connection to 
a particular parish. Therefore Policy CP14 of the Joint Core Strategy provides the 
mechanism for delivering rural exception sites in these locations to deliver affordable 
housing. 

3.17 Within the district the parishes of Headley and Liss are two parishes that are located 
partially within the 400 metre SPA buffer zone that currently have a local connection 
affordable housing need that exceeds the future supply of affordable housing 
(allocations and planning permissions) as demonstrated by Table 3 overleaf.

Table 3: Summary of Affordable Housing Need in the Parishes of Headley 
and Liss.

Settlement 
(Parish)

Local 
Connection 
Need
(Dec 2016)

Allocations / 
permissions for 
affordable housing 

Shortfall 

Headley 62 Up to 53. 57

Liss 98 Up to 664 37

3.18 East Hampshire District Council recently undertook a call for sites for those parts of 
the district outside of the South Downs National Park. Through the call for sites, two 

3 Policy VL3 of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Housing and Employment Allocations allocates a site for 
12 dwellings. Assuming that the development delivers 40% affordable housing, up to 5 affordable dwellings 
could be delivered at this site.
4 Policy Liss 8 of the Liss Neighbourhood Plan allocates six sites to provide approximately 165 dwellings. 
Assuming that all of these sites are delivered and provide 40% affordable housing would generate 66 
affordable dwellings.



10

sites have been promoted in the parish of Liss for consideration through the plan 
making process as potential rural exception sites. However, both of these sites are 
located within the 400 metre SPA buffer zone. 

3.19 The above evidence demonstrates that without safeguarding some of the remaining 
capacity within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II SPA for rural exception 
affordable housing, the ability of both planning authorities to meet the locally 
identified needs for such accommodation will be constrained.  

Summary of evidence 

3.20 It is clear that from the above evidence that the capacity for additional dwellings 
within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area has been 
used up considerably faster than anticipated at the time the Joint Core Strategy was 
prepared. The evidence indicates that both planning authorities need to provide 
additional accommodation for Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople and to 
meet local affordable housing needs. The evidence also indicates that in order to 
meet some of this need, development within the 400 metre buffer zone is going to be 
required. 

Policy Approach

3.21 The purpose of this SPD is to safeguard the Special Protection Area (protected under 
the EC Habitats Directive) remaining windfall allowance within 400 metres of the 
Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople accommodation and rural exception affordable housing only as the need 
for these uses cannot be solely met outside of the 400 metre buffer zone.  Any 
development proposed within the 400 metre buffer zone will need to be tested 
through a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA). 

3.22 This safeguarded remaining allowance will be used to deliver residential uses where 
the need cannot be met solely outside of the 400 metre buffer zone (specifically 
Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation and affordable housing) 
through plan making and decision taking. 

Plan making 

3.23 East Hampshire District Council is currently working on its Local Plan which will 
include residential allocations for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople 
accommodation and rural affordable housing exception sites for those parts of the 
district outside of the SDNPA.  As detailed above, to meet identified needs, the 
planning authorities will be seeking to allocate sites for such uses through their 
emerging Local Plans.

3.24 The South Downs National Park Authority has recently undertaken an 8 week 
consultation on their Regulation 19 Pre-Submission Local Plan (2014 – 2033). The 
plan includes an allocation for 4 permanent gypsy pitches at Fern Farm, Greatham 
which is located within the 400 metre buffer zone of the Wealden Heaths Phase II 
SPA. 

3.25 There are a number of Neighbourhood Plans in preparation across the district where 
the community may decide to allocate sites for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling 
Showpeople accommodation and rural affordable housing exception sites.



11

Decision Taking  

Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation

3.26 Planning applications that have been tested through a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) for Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople accommodation 
that result in a net increase in residential dwellings within 400 metres of the Wealden 
Heaths Phase II SPA in East Hampshire District (including the area within South 
Downs National Park) will be approved until such a time that the 43 dwelling total 
windfall allowance is reached. Once the windfall allowance has been reached, 
schemes will only be permitted when supported by an Appropriate Assessment which 
demonstrates that the development would not result in harm to the SPA, and that has 
been agreed by both the Competent Authority (the Council or the SDNPA) and 
Natural England. 

Rural affordable housing exception sites

3.27 Planning applications that have been tested through a Habitats Regulations 
Assessment (HRA) for rural affordable housing exception sites that result in a net 
increase in residential dwellings within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II 
SPA in East Hampshire District (including the area within South Downs National 
Park) will be approved until such a time that the 43 dwelling total windfall allowance 
is reached. Once the windfall allowance has been reached, schemes will only be 
permitted when supported by an Appropriate Assessment that demonstrates that the 
development would not result in harm to the SPA, and that has been agreed by both 
the Competent Authority (the Council or the SDNPA) and Natural England. 

Other forms of residential development

3.28 Planning applications for other forms of residential development that result in a net 
increase in residential dwellings within 400 metres of the Wealden Heaths Phase II 
SPA in East Hampshire District (including the area within South Downs National 
Park) will be refused, unless supported by an Appropriate Assessment that 
demonstrates that the development would not result in harm to the SPA, and that has 
been agreed by the Competent Authority (the Council or the SDNPA) and Natural 
England.  If applications are permitted through this process, the net increase in 
dwellings would not count towards the total windfall allowance.



12

4.0 GLOSSARY 

Acronym Word Definition 

 Adoption The final stage of implementing the Supplementary Planning 
Document, this requires the local planning authorities to agree 
the content of Supplementary Planning Document for decision 
taking and make it publicly available.

AA Appropriate 
Assessment

See Habitats Regulations Assessment

 Concealed 
households

Households, living within other households, who are unable to 
set up separate family units.

 Consultation An opportunity for the public and stakeholders to make 
comments on any policies and content within the 
Supplementary Planning Document. All comments will then 
be taken into account when preparing the final version of the 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

 Consultation 
Portal 

The Councils consultation portal not only enables you to 
register for notifications and updates, it also puts you in 
charge of ensuring that we have your most up to date contact 
details and allows you to submit your comments online during 
active consultations, or to opt out of future notifications.

 Consultation 
Statement 

A statement prepared by East Hampshire District Council and 
South Downs National Park Authority to show the consultation 
that has been undertaken during the preparation of the 
Supplementary Planning Document.
  

 Doubling-up Where there are more than the permitted number of caravans 
on a pitch or plot.

EqIA Equalities 
Impact 
Assessment 

To analyse the potential and actual effects of a policy on 
vulnerable groups and make suitable modifications to reduce 
or avoid any negative impact.

 Gypsies and 
Travellers

Persons of nomadic habit of life whatever their race or origin, 
including such persons who on grounds only of their own or 
their family’s or dependants’ educational or health needs or 
old age have ceased to travel temporarily, but excluding 
members of an organised group of travelling showpeople or 
circus people travelling together as such. (Planning Policy for 
Traveller Sites, 2015)

GTAA Gypsy, 
Traveller and 
Travelling 
Showpeople 
Accommodation 
Assessment

An independent assessment of the need for gypsy, traveller, 
and travelling showpeople accommodation.



13

HRA Habitats 
Regulations 
Assessment

Used to assess the impacts of proposals and land-use plans 
against the conservation objectives of a European Protected 
site and to ascertain whether it would adversely affect the 
integrity of that site.

 In-migration Movement into or come to live in a region or community.

JCS Joint Core 
Strategy 

A document that sets out the key planning policies for the 
District. 

NPPF National 
Planning Policy 
Framework 

A document that sets out the Government’s planning policies 
for England and how these are expected to be applied. The 
Framework was published in March 2012.

PPTS Planning Policy 
for Traveller 
Sites

National planning policy for travellers sites which should be 
read in conjunction with the NPPF.

 Pitch/Plot Area of land on a site/development generally home to one 
household.  Can be varying sizes and have varying caravan 
numbers.  Pitches refer to Gypsy and Traveller sites and Plots 
to Travelling Showpeople yards.

 Rural Exception 
Affordable 
Housing Sites

Small sites used for affordable housing in perpetuity where 
sites would not normally be used for housing. Rural exception 
sites seek to address the needs of the local community by 
accommodating households who are either current residents 
or have an existing family or employment connection. Small 
numbers of market homes may be allowed at the local 
authority’s discretion, for example where essential to enable 
the delivery of affordable units without grant funding.

SDNP South Downs 
National Park 
Authority

The Planning Authority for the South Downs National Park.

 Site An area of land on which Gypsies, Travellers and Travelling 
Showpeople are accommodated in caravans/chalets/vehicles.  
Can contain one or multiple pitches/plots.

SPA Special 
Protection Area

Areas which have been identified as being of international 
importance for the breeding, feeding, wintering or the 
migration of rare and vulnerable species of birds found within 
European Union countries. They are European designated 
sites, classified under the Birds Directive.

SHLAA Strategic 
Housing Land 
Availability 
Assessment

The SHLAA is a technical study which is used to assist in the 
monitoring of whether there is an adequate supply of 
deliverable housing land. It informs planning process in terms 
of identifying land that is suitable, available and achievable for 
housing uses over the plan period. It identifies sites with 
potential for development, assesses their development 
potential and assesses their suitability, availability and 
deliverability.



14

5.0 APPENDIX A – Map showing the location of the Wealden 
Heaths Phase II SPA and its 400 metre buffer zone 



15

6.0 APPENDIX B – Potential for altering the number of new 
dwellings allowed within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 
SPA (November 2015).



16



17

Revision schedule

Rev Date Details Prepared by Reviewed by Approved by
0 1/12/15 Draft for client review James Riley 

(Associate Director, 
Ecology)

Jesse Honey 
(Principal Town 
Planner)

Sam Jackson (GIS 
Consultant)

James Riley 
(Associate 
Director, 
Ecology)

Tessa Harding (Associate 
Director, Ecology)

AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited
Scott House
Alencon Link
Basingstoke
RG21 7PP

Tel: +44 (0)1752 310 200

www.aecom.com



18

Limitations

AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited (“AECOM”) has prepared this Report for 
the sole use of “Client” (“Client”) in accordance with the Agreement under which our services 
were performed. No other warranty, expressed or implied, is made as to the professional 
advice included in this Report or any other services provided by AECOM. This Report is 
confidential and may not be disclosed by the Client or relied upon by any other party without 
the prior and express written agreement of AECOM. 

The conclusions and recommendations contained in this Report are based upon information 
provided by others and upon the assumption that all relevant information has been provided 
by those parties from whom it has been requested and that such information is accurate.  
Information obtained by AECOM has not been independently verified by AECOM, unless 
otherwise stated in the Report. 

The methodology adopted and the sources of information used by AECOM in providing its 
services are outlined in this Report. The work described in this Report was undertaken 
during October and November 2015, and is based on the conditions encountered and the 
information available during the said period of time. The scope of this Report and the 
services are accordingly factually limited by these circumstances. 

Where assessments of works or costs identified in this Report are made, such assessments 
are based upon the information available at the time and where appropriate are subject to 
further investigations or information which may become available.  

AECOM disclaim any undertaking or obligation to advise any person of any change in any 
matter affecting the Report, which may come or be brought to AECOM’s attention after the 
date of the Report.

Certain statements made in the Report that are not historical facts may constitute estimates, 
projections or other forward-looking statements and even though they are based on 
reasonable assumptions as of the date of the Report, such forward-looking statements by 
their nature involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially 
from the results predicted. AECOM specifically does not guarantee or warrant any estimate 
or projections contained in this Report.

Where field investigations are carried out, these have been restricted to a level of detail 
required to meet the stated objectives of the services. The results of any measurements 
taken may vary spatially or with time and further confirmatory measurements should be 
made after any significant delay in issuing this Report.

Copyright
© This Report is the copyright of AECOM Infrastructure & Environment UK Limited.  Any 
unauthorised reproduction or usage by any person other than the addressee is strictly 
prohibited. 



19

1  Scope

In order to ensure that the numbers of net new dwellings delivered within 400m of the Wealden 
Heaths Phase 2 SPA are controlled, Natural England has requested that the number of dwellings that 
were identified in the Local Plan Joint Core Strategy HRA as being expected within 400m of the SPA 
(approximately 30 dwellings) is used as an effective cap on net new dwellings and that net new gypsy 
and traveller pitches should be included as part of that allowance.

East Hampshire District Council has asked AECOM to consider whether there is scope for changing 
this cap to an alternative figure. In our proposal we identified several issues that would be 
investigated to ascertain whether there was a basis for such a change. These were:

 Testing to what extent it is accurate to include gypsy & traveller pitches within the allowance;
 Examining any precedents around other SPAs designated for nightjar and woodlark;
 Considering the basis for the ‘approximately 30 dwelling’ figure and whether an alternative 

threshold would be more appropriate.

2  Background

In the February 2012 Pre-Submission HRA where this issue was first discussed, an analysis was 
undertaken of the number of dwellings that were likely to be delivered in East Hampshire (including 
the National Park)5 over the period until 2028. 

Based purely on a statistical analysis, it was considered that applications for approximately 30 windfall 
dwellings could be expected to come forward during the plan period. The details of how the estimate 
was calculated were provided in Appendix 2 of the February 2012 HRA.

Gypsy and traveller plots were specifically excluded from this calculation (paragraph 6.4.17 of the 
February 2012 HRA, or para. 6.4.18 of the 2013 HRA), as at the time it was concluded that proposals 
for new plots within 400m were unlikely to come forward.

It was ultimately concluded that ‘a further 30 dwellings would be an increase of approximately 1% 
[actually 1.04%]. It is considered unlikely that such a small increase would result in a material 
increase in urbanisation impacts. There is therefore no basis to conclude that the Joint Core Strategy 
will lead to likely significant effects as a result of ‘urbanisation’ of the [Wealden Heaths Phase 2] SPA’.

In the 2013 HRA report the expected number of net new dwellings over the plan period within 400m of 
the SPA in East Hampshire (including the National Park) was increased to 33. However, the 
conclusion regarding impacts on the SPA remained unchanged since the scale of development 
remained ‘approximately 1%’ [actually 1.15%].

5 Any net new increase in dwellings within the Waverley part of the 400m zone was discounted from the 
calculations on the basis that: a) although there was an expectation of approximately 50 windfall dwellings in the 
Hindhead area over the plan period, the Council confirmed that these were likely to be covered by the spare 
capacity of the Hindhead Concept Statement which already included an accepted SPA Avoidance Strategy and 
b) There were two SHLAA sites within 400m of the SPA at Hindhead (HIND001 – Highways, Tilford Rd, 
Hindhead, with capacity for up to 10 dwellings and HIND007 – Oakdale, Portsmouth Rd, Hindhead, with capacity 
for up to 41 dwellings) and which would not be covered by the Concept Statement but the HRA of the Wealden 
Core Strategy concluded that these were unlikely to be deliverable due to a combination of their combined size 
and proximity to the SPA (c. 200m) and existing objections from Natural England, so they were excluded from the 
calculation. Waverley Council has confirmed that they believe these considerations still stand and that Waverley 
can therefore continue to be excluded from the calculations.



20

3  Clarifying the total current housing stock within 400m of the SPA

For this exercise in 2015, the number of existing dwellings within 400m of the SPA was recalculated 
using a more refined methodology. This involved:

 Plotting on GIS a 400 metre buffer around all five SPA parcels across both local authorities;
 Plotting on GIS the postcode points appearing within those buffer zones and turning them into a 

dataset;
 Cross-referencing this postcode dataset to a separate national postcode dataset giving number of 

households per postcode;
 Calculating the number of households in the 400m buffer zone;
 Determining the ratio of households to dwellings in East Hampshire and Waverley, using data from 

Census 2011; and
 Dividing the number of households by this ratio to determine the baseline number of actual 

dwellings in the 400m buffer zone.

This analysis confirmed that there are 473 households within 400m of the SPA in Waverley district 
and 2,290 households within 400m of the SPA in East Hampshire; 2,763 in total. In the 2011 Census, 
East Hampshire had 49,099 dwellings and 47,258 households, giving a household to dwelling ratio of 
0.963. In the same Census, Waverley had 51,545 dwellings and 49,280 households, giving a 
household to dwelling ratio of 0.956.

There are therefore 495 dwellings6 within 400m of the SPA in Waverley district (0.96% of all dwellings 
in the district) and 2,378 dwellings7 (4.84% of all dwellings in the district) within 400m of the SPA in 
East Hampshire. In total, therefore, across both authorities, these revised calculations estimate there 
are approximately 2,873 dwellings within the 400 metre buffer zone of the SPA. 

Therefore, the number of dwellings within 400m of the SPA as estimated for the Joint Core Strategy 
HRA appears to have been broadly accurate (actually approximately 10% higher than those from the 
current calculations). The 10% difference does not materially alter the analysis that was undertaken in 
2013, in that 33 net new dwellings is an approximately 1% increase whether the 2013 or 2015 
numbers are used.  

It can therefore be confirmed that the assessment in 2013 did not underestimate the number of 
existing dwellings within 400m of the SPA.

4  Validity of including gypsy and traveller sites

In general, there is a discussion to be had as to whether the provision of gypsy and traveller sites is 
actually associated with a net increase in the gypsy and traveller population or whether it is more a 
matter of providing legal and properly serviced facilities to replace unofficial sites. In addition, unlike 
permanent conventional dwellings, there is a question as to whether gypsies and travellers utilise the 
pitches provided on a sufficiently regular and frequent basis to meaningfully increase in traveller 
population of a given area. For example, if past experience indicates that the majority of new pitches 
are likely to remain unoccupied most of the time (and particularly bearing in mind that woodlark and 
nightjar are most affected by disturbance during the spring and summer rather than the autumn and 
winter) then there may be a basis for excluding them from the considerations that would apply to other 
residential development.

6 473/0.956 = 495
7 2,290/0.963 = 2,378



21

Based on data supplied by East Hampshire District Council, there are currently 42 gypsy and traveller 
plots within 400m of the SPA. Of these, 13 have been granted permission since April 2014 (i.e. after 
the Joint Core Strategy HRA baseline was established). The vast majority of these plots appear to be 
legal and permanently occupied (although not necessarily by the same family all-year-round).

It therefore appears that any new gypsy & traveller pitches within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase 
2 would likely involve a net increase in the gypsy and traveller population within that zone (if not in the 
district as a whole), rather than replacement of an existing legal site for an unofficial site. Based on 
existing patterns of use it also seems very likely that, while individual families may come and go 
through the year, any new pitches have a good chance of being in effectively permanent use. On this 
basis, there seems to be no reason to exclude gypsy and traveller sites from other forms of residential 
accommodation that would lead to a net increase in the population of the 400m zone.

5  Examining precedents around other SPAs

Table 1 below contains all English SPAs that are (at least in part) designated for nightjar and 
woodlark. It includes a) those SPAs for which a total prohibition on net new dwellings within 400m 
exists (coloured orange), b) those SPAs for which housing is permitted within 400m but restrictions 
are imposed (coloured blue) and c) those SPAs for which, to the best of our knowledge, there is no 
restriction on housing delivery within 400m (coloured green). The colouring is arbitrary and purely to 
separate SPAs into groups. 

Table 1. English SPAs designated for nightjar and woodlark

Site Area 
(ha)

Number of existing 
dwellings within 400m

Weighted dwelling density 
(dwellings within 400m/ha of 
designated site)

Dorset Heathlands SPA 8,164.82 33,431 4.09
Thames Basin Heaths SPA 8,286.92 30,253 3.65
Ashdown Forest SPA 3,196.92 2,846 0.80
East Devon Heaths SPA 1,119.94 301 0.27
Wealden Heaths Phase 2 
SPA

2,050.69 2,873 1.40

Thursley, Hankley & 
Frensham Commons SPA

1,874.90 1,777 0.95

Minsmere-Walberswick 
SPA4

2,018.92 908 0.45

Sandlings SPA 3,391.19 1,147 0.34
Breckland SPA8 39,283.96 9,165 0.23
Thorne & Hatfield Moors 
SPA

2,449.20 6 0.02

It can be seen that all those sites that have no controls at all on net new housing development within 
400m clearly have a lower number of existing dwellings relative to the size of the European site than 
is the case for Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA. This indicates that existing pressure from development 
within 400m is likely to be commensurately lower and also suggests that the quantum of new 

8 The numbers for Breckland SPA and Minsmere-Walberswick SPA are more difficult to compare with the other 
SPAs because large parts of both sites are designated for other birds and are unsuitable for nightjar and 
woodlark.



22

development that might be expected within 400m is low9. The decision not to impose any restrictions 
appears to be based on an expectation that no housing proposals would be likely to come forward 
within this zone anyway. The same cannot be said for the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 although clearly 
the pressure and risk are several times less than for the Dorset Heathlands or Thames Basin Heaths 
SPA. Therefore, there does not appear to be any useful precedent for Wealden Heaths Phase 2 from 
those SPAs for which there are no controls on new development within 400m.

East Devon Heaths SPA appears to be something of an anomaly in that a strategic 400m exclusion 
zone exists despite the fact that existing patterns of development suggest there would be little risk to 
the site without one. The decision appears to have been made purely in order to align the SPA with 
the Dorset Heathlands and Thames Basin Heaths rather than because there was any particular 
concern that an adverse effect on the SPA would otherwise arise.

6  Justification for using ‘approximately 30 dwellings’ as a cap on new housing

The figure of ‘approximately 30 dwellings’, is currently being applied as a cap on net new 
development within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA, but was never intended to be used in 
this way by the authors of the Joint Core Strategy HRA reports.

It is important to understand that the figure of thirty-three dwellings was always intended as a broad 
estimate of the number of dwellings likely to be delivered within 400m of the SPA over the plan 
period, rather than an absolute number; this is unavoidable since it involves estimating the number 
and location of windfall dwellings. This is made clear in Appendix 2 of the February 2012 Pre 
Submission HRA through the use of broad language: ‘… out of the 163 windfall dwellings that are 
anticipated within parishes that abut the SPA in East Hampshire, it seems possible that approximately 
30 could come forward within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA.’

The conclusion as to whether there would likely to be a significant effect from an increase in dwellings 
of this scale was based on an estimate of the broad change in the number of existing dwellings, the 
fact that this would reflect an approximately 1% increase in housing stock, and the professional 
judgment that such a small degree of change on a site which is not considered to be under particular 
threat or pressure from urbanisation could be considered negligible. 

Since the conclusion regarding no adverse effect on integrity was not based on the raw number of 
dwellings so much as on the proportional increase in dwellings, we consider that a more appropriate 
threshold to be used would be that of an ‘approximately 1%’ increase in net new dwellings compared 
to the baseline as per March 2014. The use of the ‘approximately 1% increase’ threshold would better 
relate to the degree of acceptable change relative to the baseline scale of development located within 
400m, rather than the effectively arbitrary number of 33 dwellings.

The current threshold of 33 dwellings equates to a 1.14% increase in net housing stock. Increasing 
the permissible number of net new dwellings to 43 (i.e. a further 10 dwellings including gypsy & 
traveller pitches), would equate to a 1.48% increase in the total housing stock. Based on the balance 
of households to dwellings, an increase of 43 dwellings could be expected to be an increase of 43 
households if all dwellings were occupied by people who did not already live within 400m of the SPA. 
This would enable a further 10 dwellings to be delivered (an increase of 30% on the current 
allowance) but would remain a numerically small increase and would remain a sufficiently small 

9 Although the actual number of dwellings within 400m of the Breckland SPA is much greater than around 
Wealden Heaths Phase 2, when adjusted for the much larger area of Breckland SPA the relative density is much 
smaller



23

increase in total housing stock that the ‘approximately 1%’ definition of a de minimis scale of net 
development used in the Joint Core Strategy HRA would still apply. 

The use of such a threshold would still be precautionary, would still only permit a small total number 
of net new dwellings and would still enable housing density within 400m of the Wealden Heaths 
Phase 2 SPA to be kept low. For example, Table 2 illustrates that there are approximately 30,000 
dwellings within 400m of each of the Thames Basin Heaths and Dorset Heathlands SPAs; more 
dwellings than lie within the entire core 5km catchment of Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA. In some 
parts of the Dorset Heathlands in particular (such as Purbeck District), over 50% of all existing 
dwellings within the district lie within 400m of the SPA, compared to less than 5% in East Hampshire 
and less than 1% in Waverley.

Of course, the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA is a considerably smaller site than the Thames Basin 
Heaths or Dorset Heathlands, but even adjusting for that by conversion to a ratio of housing density 
per hectare of site the relative housing density within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 is still 
much less than that around the two other SPAs (the relative density at Thames Basin Heaths and 
Dorset Heathlands is approximately three times that at Wealden Heaths Phase 2).

Table 2. Comparison of the demographic setting for Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA with that for 
Thames Basin Heaths SPA and Dorset Heathlands SPA 

Site Area 
(ha)

Number of existing 
dwellings within 
400m

Weighted dwelling density, allowing for the size 
of the designated site (expressed as dwellings 
within 400m per hectare of SPA)

Dorset 
Heathlands SPA

8,164.82 33,431
 

4.09

Thames Basin 
Heaths SPA

8,286.92 30,253 3.65


Wealden Heaths 
Phase 2 SPA

2,050.69 2,873 1.40

7  Conclusion

Based on the discussion in Section 6, it is considered that there is a rational basis for a small increase 
in the permissible number of net new dwellings within 400m of the Wealden Heaths Phase 2 SPA, by 
using a more appropriate and less subjective measure than the number of net new dwellings that 
were anticipated at the time the 2013 Joint Core Strategy HRA was written. Increasing the permissible 
number of net new dwellings to 43 (i.e. a further 10 dwellings including gypsy & traveller pitches), 
would equate to a 1.48% increase in the total housing stock. Based on the balance of households to 
dwellings, an increase of 43 dwellings could be expected to be an increase of 41 households if all 
dwellings were occupied by people who did not already live within 400m of the SPA. This would 
enable a further 10 dwellings to be delivered (an increase of 30% on the current allowance) but would 
remain a numerically small increase and would remain a sufficiently small increase in total housing 
stock that the ‘approximately 1%’ definition of a de minimis scale of net development used in the Joint 
Core Strategy HRA would still apply.



24



NON EXEMPT

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT  POLICY AND 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING PANEL

25 OCTOBER 2017

Residential Extensions and Householder Development 
Supplementary Planning Document

Report by Planning Policy

Portfolio: Planning – Cllr Angela Glass 

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present Councillors with the draft Residential 
Extensions and Householder Development Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD). The SPD has been prepared to provide additional guidance for Policies 
CP27: Pollution and CP29: Design of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 
Joint Core Strategy (JCS, adopted June 2014). These are general policies that 
seek to encourage good design and avoid or mitigate the potential impacts of  
new development, however the SPD is specifically concerned with proposals for 
extensions and related alterations to existing dwellings. The SPD will only apply 
to areas of East Hampshire outside of the South Downs National Park.

1.2 Appendix A accompanying this report contains the draft Residential Extensions 
and Householder Development SPD, which is proposed for public consultation. 
Once adopted, the SPD will be a material consideration for planning applications 
for residential extensions and other householder development. It will enable 
applicants to make successful applications and help to improve the quality of 
proposals for residential extensions in East Hampshire (outside of the South 
Downs National Park).

2.0 Recommendation

2.1 It is recommended that the Panel:

i) provides comments on the draft Residential Extensions and Householder 
Development Supplementary Planning Document (Appendix A of this 
Report);

ii) notes that an eight week public consultation on the draft SPD will be 
undertaken in Autumn 2017.

3.0 Summary

3.1 A draft SPD is proposed to offer detailed guidance to address design and 
amenity issues for residential extensions and other householder 
development.This SPD will support the Council’s implementation of policies 



NON EXEMPT

CP27: Pollution and CP29: Design of the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 
JCS. It will apply to areas of East Hampshire outside of the South Downs 
National Park.  

3.2 The design of proposed development is an important material consideration, 
which can affect the amenity of neighbouring properties and the character of a 
local area.The proposed draft SPD (Appendix A) suggests how potential negative 
impacts can be avoided or mitigated through good design, whilst enabling home-
owners in East Hampshire to improve their properties. It will be subject to public 
consultation for eight weeks in Autumn 2017. It will be made available on the 
Council’s website and at the Council Offices at Penns Place. 

4.0 Subject of Report

4.1 Policies CP27: Pollution and CP29: Design of the East Hampshire District Local 
Plan: JCS are strategic policies. They seek to avoid or mitigate the potential 
negative impacts of development; and to deliver the Government’s national policy 
of improving the quality of design in new development. These policies are written 
to deal with proposals for all kinds of development and provide general guidance 
that needs to be interpreted with regard to the nature of a developmemt proposal 
and its local context. The need to interpret these policies means that prospective 
applicants may be unaware of specific implications for their proposals. More 
detailed guidance could help applicants to make successful applications and to 
reduce the time that planning officers would otherwise spend negotiating a 
suitable (i.e. policy-compliant) design solution.

4.2 A new SPD is therefore proposed to deal with the design and amenity issues 
associated with extending a dwelling, building a new outbuilding, or erecting a 
new boundary. This SPD will enable the Council to make clear what it expects 
from these developments, in terms of its strategic design and pollution planning 
policies. Additional guidance for these types of development would be particularly 
helpful for both applicants and planning officers, given the volume of related 
planning applications that the Council receives. In 2016/17, 44% of all planning 
applications received by East Hampshire District Council were for householder 
developments1. 

4.3 It should be noted that the Council has previously issued design guidance for 
residential extensions. This guidance is now of some age and is not available on 
the Council’s website. Some of its design-related principles remain relevant and 
can be carried forward into a new SPD. However, the document pre-dates the 
Government’s National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) and the 
Council’s JCS (adopted June 2014) and therefore it needs to be revised and 
updated to reflect the current national and local policy approach. Revised 
detailed guidance should also be prepared in accordance with the Town and 
Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 and the Council’s 
Statement of Community Involvement (January 2015), so that it may be formally 
adopted as a new SPD, capable of carrying significant weight as a material 
consideration in the planning application process.

1 A total of 1,248 planing applicationswere received between 01/04/2016 and 31/03/2017, excluding tree-related 
applications. Of these, 546 were classified as householder planning applications, which  equates to approximately 
44% of the total (source: EHDC Planning).



NON EXEMPT

4.4 A new SPD is proposed to reflect the importance of building design as a material 
planning consideration. If they are not well-designed, residential extensions can 
have negative impacts on the amenity of neighbouring properties, by causing 
overshadowing of windows and hence reducing the amount of daylight and 
sunlight for neighbouring occupants. Poor design can also detract from the 
existing character of an area by changing the relationships between adjoining 
properties, in terms of the overall density of development and changing how 
open, enclosed or overlooked the public realm feels to visitors and residents. 
These matters are already important considerations for a planning application by 
virtue of national policy and JCS policies CP27 and CP29 (amongst others). The 
proposed draft SPD provides further details on how these and other potential 
negative impacts can be avoided or substantially mitigated, whilst enabling 
home-owners in East Hampshire to improve their properties.

4.5 The new SPD will only apply to the parts of East Hampshire outside of the South 
Downs National Park. The South Downs National Park Authority is currently in 
the stage of preparing the publication version of its new local plan for 
consultation, prior to its submission to the Government for an examination in 
public. The current timetable involves consultation on a publication local plan 
from September to October 2017, with submission in February 2018. The new 
local plan will contain policies that supersede JCS policies CP27 and CP29 in the 
national park, therefore additional guidance in relation to those policies would be 
potentially confusing and untimely for the national park authority. Indeed, if the 
SPD were also to apply to the national park area, it would be out-of-date for this 
part of East Hampshire shortly after its adoption.

4.6 The SPD has been prepared in close consultation with EHDC planning officers 
from Development Management and in recognition of best practice in other local 
authority areas. It provides advice in terms of matters of established principle and 
best practice, rather than a survey of local character for the different parts of East 
Hampshire (outside of the national park). Once the SPD has been adopted, 
further evidence gathering on local design and landscape issues will be 
undertaken to inform and underpin future planning policies, in accordance with a 
timetable established by the Council’s Local Development Scheme (either the 
current version or future iterations).  Moving forward, the SPD could be updated 
as necessary, to reflect changes in underlying planning policy, in accordance with 
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulatons (2012) 
and the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 

4.7 The draft SPD will be available for public consultation for a period of eight weeks, 
which exceeds the minimum six weeks stated in the Council’s Statement of 
Community Involvement. This is to harmonise the consultation period with other 
SPDs that Planning Policy is consulting on during Autumn 2017, so as to avoid 
any potential confusion. The draft SPD will be made available on the EHDC 
website and for inspection at Penns Place. Responses to the consultation will be 
analysed and a statement of public participation will be prepared, summarising 
the main issues raised and how they have been addressed by the SPD (as 
amended).



NON EXEMPT

5.0 Implications 

5.1 Resources:  The consultation will be run by using existing resource within the 
Planning Policy Team. The consultation will be advertised which will incur a small 
fee, however, all costs are covered by existing resources and budgets.

5.2 Legal:  In exceptional circumstances, supplementary planning documents may 
require a strategic environmental assessment (SEA), undertaken in accordance 
with the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 
2004. It appears unlikely that the proposed SPD would have significant 
environmental effects , however a formal  screening determination has been 
prepared and this will be consulted upon with Historic England, Natural England 
and the Environment Agency (as the recognised consultation bodies for SEA) 
during consultation on the draft SDP. A screening determination has also been 
completed for habitats regulation assessment (HRA) under the Conservation of 
Habitats and Species Regulations 2010. Although no significant adverse effects 
are anticipated that would affect the integrity of internationally protected habitats, 
this screening determination will be consulted upon with Natural England.

5.2.1 The SPD will be produced in compliance with the Town and Country Planning 
(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012. 

5.3 Strategy: The SPD, when adopted, will be a material planning consideration. It 
will support the implementation of policies CP27: Pollution and CP29: Design of 
the East Hampshire District Local Plan: Joint Core Strategy (adopted June 2014).

5.4 Risks: There is a risk that if the SPD is not adopted, applicants may misinterpret 
or overlook the requirements of some of the Council’s planning policies, leading 
to delays in securing planning permission. The Council may also be faced with 
the burden of unnecessary planning appeals in relation to householder 
applications and with the possibility of losing those appeals due to a lack of 
clarity about the implications of its policies.

5.4.1 There is a also risk of legal challenge in the preparation of SPDs, as SPDs must 
be prepared in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012.

5.6 Communications: The draft SPD will be subject to eight weeks public 
consultation. The consultation will be carried out in accordance with the Council’s 
Statement of Community Involvement. There will be related consultation with 
consultation bodies (Historic England, Natural England and the Environment 
Agency) on the screening determination for SEA and HRA.

Appendices:

Appendix A
Draft Residential Extensions and Householder Development Supplementary Planning 
Document

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/PD02StatementCommunityInvolvement.pdf


NON EXEMPT

Background Papers:

Agreed and signed off by:

Head of Planning: Simon Jenkins
Legal Services: Gina Homewood
Finance: Andy Miles
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Angela Glass 

Contact Officer: Kevin Thurlow
Job Title:        Principal Policy Planner
Telephone:        01730 234297
E-Mail:        kevin.thurlow@easthants.gov.uk

mailto:kevin.thurlow@easthants.gov.uk


6

Appendix A – Draft Residential Extensions and Householder Development 
Supplementary Planning Document

DRAFT Residential Extensions & Householder Development Supplementary 
Planning Document

October 2017



7

CONTENTS
1. CONSULTATION .................................................................................................................................3

2. INTRODUCTION .................................................................................................................................4

WHAT IS A SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD)?...........................................................................................4
WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THIS SPD?..........................................................................................................................4
NATIONAL POLICY CONTEXT ......................................................................................................................................5
LOCAL POLICY CONTEXT............................................................................................................................................5
WHEN DOES THIS GUIDANCE APPLY? ...........................................................................................................................6

3. EXTENSIONS ......................................................................................................................................7

GENERAL ADVICE FOR EXTENSIONS .............................................................................................................................7
SPECIFIC ADVICE......................................................................................................................................................9
REAR EXTENSIONS ...................................................................................................................................................9
SIDE EXTENSIONS ..................................................................................................................................................11
FRONT EXTENSIONS ...............................................................................................................................................13
EXTENSIONS ON CORNER PLOTS ...............................................................................................................................14
ROOF EXTENSIONS (INCLUDING DORMERS AND ROOFLIGHTS)..........................................................................................15

4. OTHER HOUSEHOLDER DEVELOPMENT ............................................................................................17

GARAGES AND OUTBUILDINGS .................................................................................................................................17
ANNEXES .............................................................................................................................................................18
BOUNDARY TREATMENTS........................................................................................................................................18

5. GLOSSARY........................................................................................................................................20



8

1. CONSULTATION  

1.1. The adopted East Hampshire District Local Plan Part 1: Joint Core Strategy 
(JCS) sets out the development strategy for East Hampshire District (including 
the areas in the South Downs National Park) up until 2028.  

1.2. This draft Residential Extensions and Householder Development 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) provides detailed guidance to 
address design and amenity issues for residential extensions and other 
householder development. This SPD will support the Council’s implementation 
of strategic policies CP27: Pollution and CP29: Design of the JCS.

1.3. This document does not apply to developments within the South Downs 
National Park. 

1.4. This draft Residential Extensions and Householder Development 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is available for public consultation 
for a period of eight weeks between XXXX and XXXX

Comments can be submitted:

Through our online portal:  http://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/
By email:  localplan@easthants.gov.uk 
By writing in person to:

Planning Policy
East Hampshire District Council,
Penns Place,
Petersfield, 
Hampshire, GU31 4EX

Please note:  the comments received during this consultation cannot be 
treated as confidential so please do not include any personal information 
within your comments. Responses will be published on the Council’s website, 
together with the name and/or organisation name of the respondent.

http://easthants.jdi-consult.net/localplan/
mailto:localplan@easthants.gov.uk


9

2. INTRODUCTION

What is a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)?

2.1. A Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) elaborates upon policies in the 
Development Plan, in this instance the East Hampshire District Local Plan: 
Joint Core Strategy (JCS) 2011-2028 (adopted in June 2014).   SPDs are one 
of the material considerations that can be taken into account when determining 
a planning application.

2.2. This document is a draft SPD which supports and helps to interpret East 
Hampshire District Council’s design policies in its JCS, as these apply to 
residential extensions and oher householder developments. The draft SPD 
elaborates upon aspects of the following East Hampshire District Joint Core 
Strategy Policies:

 Policy CP27: Pollution

 Policy CP29: Design

2.3. This supplementary planning document will help prospective applicants to 
make successful planning applications for residential extensions to their homes 
and for other minor householder developments. Please read and take account 
of the following guidance before submitting a planning application. 

What is the purpose of this SPD?

2.4. The purpose of this Supplementary Planning Document is to provide guidance 
for home-owners in East Hampshire (outside of the South Downs National 
Park) on how to deal with potential design and amenity issues for extending a 
dwelling, building a new outbuilding, or erecting a new boundary. The Council 
wishes to make clear what it expects from applicants for these kinds of 
development, in terms of its strategic design and pollution planning policies.

2.5. The District Council must take into account the effect which any proposed 
extension may have on neighbouring households, the property itself and the 
appearance of the area where you live. This SPD outlines the design and 
amenity principles that will be followed in assessing relevant planning 
applications. However, each case will always be considered on its own merits, 
taking account of all relevant policies of the Council’s development plan. This 



10

SPD does not supersede but only helps to interpret policies CP27 and CP29 of 
the Council’s JCS. This SPD should therefore be considered alongside the 
Local Plan and any relevant Neighbourhood Plan.   

National Policy Context 

2.6. Good design does not always mean greater cost.  Employing an architect and 
using better materials may cost more to start with, but in the long term a well 
designed and constructed extension will cost less to maintain and is more likely 
to increase the value of your home. Planning legislation and national policy 
further underlines the importance of ensuring good design in new development.

2.7. The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires local planning 
authorities and all other relevant parties to exercise their functions “with the 
objective of contributing to the achievement of sustainable development”. The 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) expresses the Government’s view 
of what sustainable development means for the practice of the planning system 
in England. The NPPF makes clear that sustainable development involves 
replacing poor design with better design (paragraph 9), whilst seeking to secure 
a high quality design and a good standard of amenity is identified as one of the 
Government’s core planning principles (paragraph 17).

2.8. Paragraphs 56-68 of the NPPF confirm the importance that the Government 
attaches to design and the built environment. Amongst other things, it states 
that planning permission should be refused for development of poor design that 
fails to take the opportunities available for improving the character and quality 
of an area and the way it functions.

2.9. These “key messages” from legislation and national policy have informed the 
Council’s local plan, in particular the requirements of policies CP27 and CP29 
of the JCS.

Local Policy Context

2.10. Policies CP27 (Pollution) and CP29 (Design) of the Council’s JCS highlight the 
importance of ensuring that for new extensions, annexes, garages or 
boundaries:

 the occupiers of neighbouring properties are not adversely affected by 
poorly-positioned new buildings, extensions or boundary treatments 
(Policy CP27); 

 the design and layout of new buildings or extensions are appropriate to 
their settings in terms of the scale, height, massing and density of 



11

development; and in terms of their relationships to adjoining buildings, 
spaces around buildings and landscape features (criterion d), Policy 
CP29);

 new buildings, extensions or boundaries make a positive contribution to 
the local area by the use of good quality materials (criterion e), Policy 
CP29);

 new parking arrangements are within curtilage where possible and help to 
secure a high quality environment (criterion k), Policy CP29).

2.11. The remainder of this SPD provides more detailed guidance in relation to the 
above aspects of policies CP27 and CP29. Other policies from the Council’s 
development plan will also be relevant, such as saved policy HE2: Alterations 
and Extensions to Buildings. East Hampshire District Council offers a pre-
application advisory service, which provides advice on proposals in advance of 
a formal planning application. This service can help to identify the relevant 
policies and interpret their implications for the proposed development.

2.12. In particular, please note that in conservation areas and in locations where 
development could affect a listed building, a scheduled ancient monument, an 
archaeological site, or a historic park and garden: the advice of this SPD must 
be considered in the context of JCS policy CP30 (Historic Environment). 
Planning permission is likely to be refused for proposals that are inconsistent 
with the requirement to conserve, enhance, maintain or manage the district’s 
heritage assets.

2.13. Similarly, development proposals will need to maintain, enhance and protect 
the district’s biodiversity in accordance with JCS policy CP21 (Biodiversity). 
Although proposals for residential extensions etc. are unlikely to have a 
significant effects on the district’s protected areas (e.g. Special Protected Areas 
or Special Areas of Conservation); development could affect protected species, 
such as bats which may roost in the roof spaces or eaves of existing dwellings. 
Prospective applicants are advised to consult East Hampshire District Council’s 
Local planning application requirements document (available on the Council’s 
website2) for details of what may be required in support of a planning 
application, to ensure that the requirements of policy CP21 would be met. 

2.14. Some parish councils in East Hampshire have prepared neighbourhood plans 
which, once they have been formally “made”, become part of the development 
plan. Up-to-date information on the coverage and the content of neighbourhood 
plans (outside of the South Downs National Park) is available on the Council’s 
website. Some parish councils also have village design statements, which may 
be material planning considerations. Information about village design 
statements can be obtained from parish councils.

2 Please see: 
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Local%20Planning%20Application%20Requirements
_4.pdf 

http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Local%20Planning%20Application%20Requirements_4.pdf
http://www.easthants.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Local%20Planning%20Application%20Requirements_4.pdf


12

When does this guidance apply?

2.15. This SPD only applies to development proposals in parts of East Hampshire 
outside of the South Downs National Park.

2.16. The guidance of this SPD only applies in consideration of JCS policies CP27 
and CP29. It does not seek to interpret other design and amenity policies such 
as those found in relevant neighbourhood plans; or other policies of the 
development plan that would also apply to a proposal. Prospective applicants 
are strongly advised to read and take account of all relevant policies in the 
Council’s Local Plan and in neighbourhood plans which have been “made”, or 
have been successful at local referendum. 

2.17. Some proposals for extending a house, making minor alterations, or building a 
new outbuilding may not require planning permission, because they would 
constitute “permitted development”. This is development that is already 
permitted by Part 1 of Schedule 2 of The Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), without the need 
for permission from the District Council. However, even in these cases, the 
advice of this document may still be helpful for achieving a high standard of 
design and for avoiding future conflicts with neighbours.

2.18. The Government’s online Planning Portal provides further information on 
whether you’re likely to require planning permission for home improvement 
projects.



13

3. EXTENSIONS 

3.1. Thinking of extending your home? The following guidance will help you plan your 
extension, by identifying some of the key points to consider for achieving a high 
quality design whilst respecting residential amenity.

General Advice for Extensions

3.2. Alterations and extensions must be of a high quality of design which responds 
positively to the opportunities for improving the original building.  To achieve this 
goal it is essential to assess the factors which make up the character, appearance 
and setting of your home.  

3.3. The general form of an extension, its roof pitch and eaves details, its 
profile/outline, the materials used, positions of windows and doors and their details 
should all relate to the original building and the existing street scene and building 
patterns. Extensions are generally most successful when they are subservient to 
the host dwelling. 

 

This diagram shows an example of a well thought-out extension and garage, which are 
subservient to the original house



14

By contrast, this diagram shows an example of poorly-designed extensions that 
dominate and detract from the original house

3.4. Consideration should also be given to the size of an extension and whether it 
would adversely affect your neighbours.  For example, would it result in 
overshadowing or overbearing of their gardens/amenity space, or cause a loss of 
daylight or sunlight into the existing rooms of a neighbouring property? Would the 
position of new windows result in overlooking of neighbouring properties? Impacts 
are unlikely to be acceptable where new windows for ground or first floor habitable 
rooms allow unrestricted views into the rooms of neighbouring buildings. No part of 
the extension (including rainwater goods and foundations) should physically 
extend beyond the site boundaries.

3.5. An extension that is in-keeping with and subservient to the original house can be 
achieved by various means, such as by:

 positioning the ridge of the extension at a lower height than the ridge (and 
sometimes also the eaves) of the existing dwelling;

 setting the extension back from the front elevation;
 respecting the existing fenestration and “solid-to-void” ratio on public 

elevations;
 using building materials and finishes that are similar in colour, appearance 

and texture to those of the existing dwelling.
3.6. Generally extensions should look as if they could be part of the original design, 

although very skilful and imaginatively designed extensions can also be 
successful.

 
3.7. In terms of roof design, a pitch that matches that on the existing house is 

advisable. Flat-roofed extensions are unlikely to be acceptable unless the roof of 
the original building is flat.



15

3.8. Key Points for General Advice:

 Extensions should be subservient to the host dwelling.
 Extensions should reflect the appearance of the host dwelling.
 Extensions must not cause unacceptable overshadowing of, or 

overbearing impacts on neighbouring property.
 Windows to habitable rooms should not allow unrestricted views into 

neighbouring windows or private amenity areas.

Specific Advice

3.9. Each of the following sections provide more specific advice about certain types of 
residential extension and should be read in the context of relevant policies in the 
Development Plan, including any relevant Neighbourhood Plan.

Rear Extensions 

3.10. Proposals for new rear extensions will be considered in terms of their impact on 
the privacy, amenity and possible dominance over neighbouring properties. For 
purposes of applying JCS policies CP27 and CP29, this consideration will typically 
include an assessment of the proximity to the neighbours, degree of projection 
from the established building line, and proposed height and building mass (i.e. how 
bulky the extended building would appear). New extensions should not detract 
from the residential amenity or character of the local area, by adversely affecting 
these relationships between adjoining properties.

Two versions of a rear extension, showing how the degree of projection can affect 
the character of the host dwelling, which may in turn affect the relationship with 
adjoining properties. 

3.11. The potential impact on amenity will typically be considered by taking 
measurements from the proposed extension to the window wall elevations of 
adjacent properties.

3.12. The maximum limit to which extensions will be favourably considered is generally 
determined by drawing a straight line at an angle of 45o towards an adjacent 



16

property from the nearest projecting corner of the extension, when viewed from 
above. If the centre of a habitable room window on a neighbouring property lies on 
this line (or lies within the triangle created by the vertical surfaces of the properties 
and this line; see image below) then the extension is likely to have an 
unacceptable impact on the daylight received by this window.

3.13. This is a useful rule of thumb, but other material considerations will be taken into 
account to decide on the likely impact of a proposal on local residential amenity, 
such as window size, the orientation of properties relative to the trajectory of the 
sun and the presence of intervening physical features (such as the height of 
boundaries and the presence of trees). These factors can also affect the amount of 
daylight/sunlight received by adjoining properties, so the above rule of thumb will 
not be the only consideration.  

3.14. In addition to the above, two storey rear extensions should respect a 21 metre 
back-to-back separation distance between properties in order to avoid any undue 
overlooking of the neighbouring dwellings and their private amenity space. 
Separation distances can sometimes be less than this when dwellings are 
orientated at an angle to one another.



17

3.15. Key Points for Rear Extensions:

 Pay careful attention to the impact of a rear extension on the scale and 
character of the original building and on the character and appearance 
of the area.

 Adhere to the 45o rule to safeguard residential amenity.
 Windows should not result in the overlooking of windows and private 

amenity areas to the neighbouring property/properties.

Side Extensions

3.16. In most urban, suburban and village situations, the design of two-storey and first 
floor side extensions should allow for a visual break from a communal boundary to 
ensure separation from adjacent dwellings and to prevent the creation of a 
‘terracing effect’ where this would be inappropriate, given the character of the local 
area.

The perception of terracing can be an inadvertent consequence of badly-designed 
side extensions.

3.17. Generally speaking, two storey extensions should not be flush with the front main 
wall of the house but should be set back slightly. This can help to ensure their 
subservience to the original building and can help to avoid the perception of 
terracing, when little or no gap to the communal boundary can be achieved. It is 
often preferable to have a lower ridge height for a two storey side extension, to 
lessen its impact on the street scene and ensure that it does not dominate the 
original building.



18

  

Original dwelling With proposed side extension

  

Original dwelling With proposed side extension

 

Two versions of a side extension, showing an unsympathetic extension with a flat 
roof in contrast to an acceptable alternative, with a roof pitch that is in-keeping with 
the original dwelling, with a slightly lower ridge height. Both options are stepped 
back from the front wall of the house.

3.18. To avoid an overbearing impact on a neighbouring property, a minimum separation 
distance between the flank wall of a two storey side extension and the rear 
elevation of a neighbouring property of 12 metres will be encouraged. 

3.19. Key Points for Side Extensions:

 Side extensions should not lead to an unacceptable loss of space 
between an original building and its neighbours. In order to avoid 
terracing, two storey extensions should leave a gap to the communal 
boundary and incorporate a set-back from the front elevation.

 Side extensions should be subservient to the original building, with a 
lower ridge height.



19

Front Extensions

3.20. Virtually all forms of front extensions require planning permission where they 
extend beyond a wall which fronts onto a highway and forms either the principal or 
side elevation of the dwelling. This may exclude small porches and recessed 
areas.

3.21. Front extensions will normally only be accepted on dwellings located well back 
from the road; or where the street scene already includes  a staggered building 
line as part of the area’s distinctive character. Where applicable, the 45o rule 
should be respected (see advice on rear extensions for details). 

3.22. Front extensions may be more appropriate in countryside locations, where the 
character of the built environment is low density with houses set back and/or well 
screened from the public highway. In all cases front extensions should be 
subservient to the original dwelling: the extension should not project significantly 
beyond the front main wall of the original building, or be visually prominent from 
the street.  Two-storey front extensions may only be accepted where the house is 
set well back from the road, is well screened and in areas where there is not a 
uniform building line.

The two proposals in red show front extensions that project significantly from the 
front wall of the original dwelling, disrupting the building line as a visually-
prominent feature. The third proposal in blue is clearly subservient and does not 
project far beyond the front wall.

3.23. Front extensions should be well designed to avoid disfiguring the face of the 
house. New windows should be in proportion with and reflect those of the host 
dwelling: this could mean respecting the solid-to-void ratio and/or pattern of 



20

fenestration of the front elevation. The materials and design details (such as the 
eaves, weatherboards) should also be in-keeping. 

3.24. Key Points for Front Extensions:

 Front extensions might not be acceptable in suburban areas, where they 
could upset regular building lines and local character. Houses will often 
need to be set back from the road for a new front extension to be 
acceptable.

 In cases where porches may be acceptable, they should be subservient 
to the original building and complement rather than compete with 
existing features.

 Sympathetic fenestration and design details will be important for 
ensuring that a front extension enhances the character of the house. 

Extensions on Corner Plots

3.25. Whilst extensions on corner plots should adhere to the guidance outlined 
elsewhere in this document, there are a number of further matters to consider, 
particularly in urban and suburban locations.

3.26. Corner plots can be especially difficult as any extension must achieve a degree of 
compatibility with two, potentially very different, streetscapes.  Consideration will 
need to be given to an active frontage along both street frontages. Where a house 
faces the public realm from more than one aspect, particular attention should be 
given to the fenestration and design details of the new extension. There should be 
windows facing both street frontages, to allow for natural surveillance and visual 
interest from the street. Any extension should be set back from the front elevation 
of the host dwelling and should respect all building lines, to avoid becoming an 
incongruous feature within one or more streetscape and to help the building “turn 
the corner”. A gap must be maintained between the extension and existing 
boundaries.

Plan-view of a proposed corner plot extension that is unacceptable due to not 
respecting one of the building lines and impinging on the existing boundary.



21

3.27. Key Points on Corner Plots:

 Corner extensions are visible from a number of locations. It will 
therefore be especially important to assess their impact and produce a 
high standard of design and detailing.

 The extension should assist in presenting an active frontage for both 
streetscapes.

 Extensions should respect all building lines and should be stepped 
back from the front elevation, whilst maintaining a gap with existing 
boundaries.  

Roof extensions (including dormers and rooflights)

3.28. The design and profile of a domestic roof makes an important contribution to the 
dwelling’s overall appearance. Roof extensions can therefore have a positive or a 
negative impact on the character of the property and its surroundings. Significant 
changes to the profile or pitch of the roof are generally unacceptable because they 
are likely to be unsympathetic to the overall design of the house. 

3.29. The insertion of dormers can be appropriate where they would complement the 
proportions, size, arrangement and details of existing windows. New dormer 
windows need to be well designed, which normally relies on ensuring that they are 
not over-scaled and do not dominate the roof. This can be achieved by insetting 
from the existing eaves, verges and ridge. They should not protrude significantly 
from the roof profile; a small dormer will be preferable to a large ‘box’ dormer. 
Such box dormers are nearly always over-scaled and unsympathetic to the 
character of the host building and are unlikely to be supported. 

3.30. The detailing also needs to be good quality and the materials need to be well 
related to the existing roof in terms of their colour and profile. Particular attention 
should be given to the roof design of a dormer. A hipped dormer will usually be 
suitable only on a building with a hipped roof, as it could otherwise appear 
incongruous. A pitched roof will normally be preferred to a flat roof, unless the 
character of the dwelling suggests otherwise. The size of the dormer should take 
into account the necessary insulation, so that the structure avoids ‘gaining weight’ 
later.



22

Two of these proposals are unacceptable due to their size, and their intrusive 
effect on the roof of the existing dwelling. The smaller dormer is in-keeping with 
the roof of the dwelling and of a more appropriate size.

3.31. Dormers and rooflights should be well related to the existing fenestration on the 
building, for example by lining up with the existing windows, or being centrally 
located between existing windows, and they should be smaller than the windows 
beneath them. New rooflights should not protrude significantly from the roof, 
should be evenly spaced and should not dominate the roof.

3.32. Key Points for Roof Extensions:

 Roof extensions should not significantly alter the pitch or profile of the 
existing roof

 New dormers should not dominate the roof and should complement the 
proportions, size, arrangement and details of existing windows. They 
should relate well to, but be smaller than the windows beneath them.

 The design of the dormer should be in-keeping with the existing roof, 
particularly in terms of its materials and roof design.

 New rooflights should also be well-related to the existing fenestration 
and should not dominate the roof.



23

4. OTHER HOUSEHOLDER DEVELOPMENT 

Garages and Outbuildings

4.1. Garages and other outbuildings can have a similar impact to other extensions on 
the existing dwelling. Any outbuilding should be subservient to the main dwelling 
and respect the materials, scale and character of the existing residential 
building(s).

4.2. In general, outbuildings should be situated in an inconspicuous position when 
viewed from the public realm. It will rarely be considered acceptable to site 
outbuildings in front of the existing property, as it would not appear subservient to 
the main dwelling and could conflict with any established building lines. Particular 
attention should be given to proposed outbuildings within a conservation area, and 
the setting of a Listed Building or neighbouring Listed Buildings.

4.3. Garages should be set back from the main building line and there should remain 
sufficient space forward of the garage for car parking. It is also desirable to provide 
turning space within the curtilage of the dwelling. 

      

  

The illustration on the left shows an unacceptable design for a garage, which is set 
forward of the front main wall and is over-sized relative to the host dwelling. The 
drawing on the right shows an acceptable design, where the garage is set back 
from the dwelling, and is clearly subservient.



24

4.4. Outbuildings, as with other extensions, should not impact upon the amenity of any 
neighbouring property. They should not lead to an unacceptable increase in 
overshadowing, loss of privacy or disturbance. Where applicable, the 45o rule 
should be respected (see advice on rear extensions for details).

Annexes

4.5. Annexes to existing dwellings are specifically intended to provide ancillary 
accommodation, for example to accommodate relatives or dependants. Such an 
annex should be designed to reflect the close functional relationship between the 
new accommodation and the existing dwelling: typically, it should not have a 
separate entrance or staircase, nor should it include a separate kitchen. This can 
be facilitated by ensuring that the annex is physically attached to the dwelling at all 
levels (e.g. for a two-storey annex, there should be internal connections on both 
storeys). Such an extension should not result in an overbearing structure, and 
should not overshadow adjoining properties (see above for specific guidance). 

4.6. Where design constraints make it necessary to build a detached annex rather than 
an extension, the detached building can still remain functionally related to the 
existing dwelling through its design. A detached annex should share vehicular 
access and private amenity space with the host dwelling and should appear 
subservient to the dwelling in terms of its height, scale and mass. It should be 
located very close to the existing dwelling to support the shared use of communal 
(e.g. cooking and washing) facilities. 

4.7. The use of an annex as ancillary accommodation will be controlled by a planning 
condition or a legal agreement. 

4.8. Key Points For Garages, Outbuildings & Annexes:
 Garages and outbuildings should respect the scale and character of the 

existing dwelling. 
 The siting of any outbuildings should respect any established building 

line or be set back from the existing dwelling.
 Sufficient space for car parking and turning should remain between any 

proposed garage and the highway.
 Proposals should not impact upon the amenity of any neighbouring 

property.
 Annexes should be designed to reflect their status as ancillary 

accommodation for an existing dwelling, and should be physically 
attached or located very close to the dwellinghouse. 

Boundary Treatments

4.9. Boundary treatments such as fences, walls and hedges, whether traditional or 
modern, contribute a great deal to the streetscape and character of an area. They 



25

are important for defining the areas of defensible private space and often make a 
positive contribution to the setting of the building. As such, careful thought should 
be given to the impact of demolition. In conservation areas, consent to demolish 
will be required and is unlikely to be acceptable where harm would be caused to 
the streetscene. The substantial alteration of historic boundary treatments is 
unlikely to be acceptable.

4.10. Where new boundary treatments are proposed, care must be taken to ensure that 
the proposed materials and detailing take a lead from the surroundings. Care 
should be taken to ensure that any proposed walls and fences do not harm the 
streetscene. Where residential areas have a distinctive, open or sylvan character, 
the erection of walls and fences over 1 metre at the front of the property is unlikely 
to be acceptable. The character of such estates is derived from the open, 
landscaped environment and physical built barriers will significantly detract from 
that character. Likewise, boundary treatments that would obstruct visibility, for 
highway purposes, or would otherwise cause highway danger, will also be 
unacceptable.

4.11. Poorly designed boundary treatments can undermine the quality of the built 
environment and can negatively affect the relationships between buildings. New 
boundary treatments should generally be of the style typical of the immediate 
locality, unless an alternative would help to create a more active street frontage 
that would improve natural surveillance. New boundaries should be set back from 
the public highway and in all cases, the use of incongruous materials (e.g. a 
wooden fence when the area is characterised by brick walls) will be resisted.

4.12. In most cases, walls and fences that are less than one metre in height will not 
require planning permission, and this increases to a maximum of two metres on 
boundaries which are not adjacent to a highway. 

4.13. Key Points for Boundary Treatments:

 The removal or substantial alteration of traditional or historic boundary 
treatments is unlikely to be acceptable.

 Boundary treatments should be designed in materials and details that 
respect the surrounding streetscape or area.

 Boundary treatments should not be located directly adjacent to the 
highway.



26

5. GLOSSARY 

Active Frontage: this is a façade or side of a building that includes windows, doors, 
balconies and design features that add visual interest from the street. It enables people 
to see into and out from the building, helping to provide natural surveillance for the 
street and helping to create a sense of place.

Amenity: this refers to the pleasant or attractive qualities of a place or a building; what 
an occupant or visitor would expect to enjoy from using that place/building (e.g. natural 
daylight, privacy, peace and quiet).

Building Line: an imaginary line that describes the physical limit of a row of buildings in 
relation to a street. It can be uniform, when all buildings are a certain distance from the 
road, or variable when buildings are staggered and at varying distances from the road. 

Boundary Treatment: the way in which the borders of a property or space are defined 
using physical structures or features such as fences, walls and hedges. 

Character: this is the combination of matters such as: land uses, the design and layout 
of buildings and public spaces, typical views and other distinctive features such as local 
topography and natural greenspace, which come together to make one place feel 
different and function differently from another.  

Context: this is the setting for a building or a development site, which is influenced by 
surrounding land uses, any notable landscape features, and (more broadly) the 
character of the surrounding area.

Curtilage: this is the area of land immediately surrounding a house or other building 
that is associated with the use of that house/building. It includes the garden and 
driveway and is usually defined by physical boundaries. Ancillary buildings are often 
located within the curtilage of a house. 

Density: in design terms, this is the number of buildings or amount of floorspace for a 
given area of land.

Elevation: this is a side-view perspective of a building, from the exterior.

Fenestration: this is the design and placement of openings (windows and doors) in a 
building.

Habitable Rooms: this is a room that is used for dwelling purposes, but which is not 
solely a kitchen, utility room, bathroom, cellar or sanitary accommodation.

Mass: the mass of a building is how massive it appears on the basis of its perceived 
size, shape and form.



27

Natural Surveillance: the informal and incidental observation of people in public areas. 

Overbearing: the impact of a building on its surroundings in terms of its scale, massing 
and general dominating effect.

Overshadowing: the impact of a building on its surroundings in terms of the effect that 
its scale, mass and height may have on blocking out daylight and sunlight for nearby 
properties.

Private Amenity Space: this is outside space that is associated with a dwelling and is 
for the enjoyment and benefit of residents, protected from public view by the design of 
the dwelling/boundary treatments.

Solid-to-Void Ratio: this is the ratio of the sum of the areas of window and door 
openings to the gross area of an exterior wall of a building.

Streetscape: this is the physical features that comprise how a street appears (the road, 
external facades of buildings, pavements, street furniture, trees, verges and open 
spaces).

Street scene: the appearance of a street, including the building frontages where these 
are visible, from a certain perspective.





NON EXEMPT

1

EAST HAMPSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL

DEVELOPMENT POLICY AND 
AFFORDABLE HOUSING PANEL

    25th October 2017

STRATEGIC HOUSING LAND AVAILABILITY ASSESSMENT 
(SHLAA): CALL FOR SITES FINDINGS
Report by Planning Policy

FOR DECISION

Portfolio: Planning – Cllr Angela Glass 

Key Decision: No

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Councillors on the findings from the 
Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) – ‘Call for Sites’ that 
was conducted from 16 April 2017 to 30 May 2017. The report will also identify 
any new sites that are being promoted for development (outside the SDNPA).

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that the Panel:

i) Note the number of submissions that were made during the SHLAA Call 
for Sites and the proposed development uses

ii) Note any new sites that have been promoted for development

3.0 Summary 

3.1 There were a total of 180 sites submitted during the SHLAA ‘Call for Sites’. There 
were 53 new sites submitted; 13 sites with amended boundaries’ and 113 sites 
that had been submitted to previous versions of the SHLAA and remained 
unchanged. The sites were promoted for a variety of uses and respondents could 
select more than one preference for the use of the site. However, market housing 
was unanimously chosen as the preferred use (152 submissions), followed by 
affordable housing (75 submissions), older persons accommodation (77 
submissions), starter homes (79 submissions) and Self/custom-build (91 
submissions). Only five (5) sites were submitted for potential use as gypsy and 
traveller accommodation, and 12 sites submitted for mobile home development.  



NON EXEMPT

2

4.0 Subject of Report 

4.1 The Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) is a technical 
study which will inform the preparation of the East Hampshire District Local Plan.  
Its purpose is to assess the amount of land available for housing development in 
the district. From this assessment, sites can be chosen to be included in the 
development plan to meet housing targets.

4.2 The National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) states a proactive approach 
should be taken in identifying as wide a range of sites as possible for potential 
development, which includes a formal ‘call for sites’. 

4.3 In terms of the East Hampshire, the first SHLAA was published in 2009 and 
updated in annual tranches. The original SHLAA involved a call for potential sites 
and broad locations for development, which was combined to sites identified 
through planning applications, allocations, pre-application enquiries and land 
owned by the local authority, then assessed. The ‘call for sites’ was aimed at a 
wide audience, that wasn’t limited to those involved in property development, to 
allow all possible options to be explored. This included parish councils, 
neighbourhood forums, landowners, developers, businesses, local interest 
groups, as well as local notification and publicity. 

4.4 The Council undertook further call for sites in June and July 2014; April and May 
2016 and have since welcomed new submissions which have in turn been 
assessed. The most recent call for sites was conducted from 16 April to 30 May 
2017. The main purpose of this additional formal ‘call for sites’ was to identify 
further sites with potential for development that have not previously been 
submitted, as well as gain the most up-to-date information on previous 
submissions. 

4.5 All interested parties were invited to put forward potential development sites. In 
order to submit a site, the interested parties had to complete a Site Submission 
Form accompanied by a location plan clearly identifying the site boundary. This 
enabled officers to gather some key baseline data on sites and gauge the 
potential timeframes for delivery of the sites. 

4.6 The site assessment form also gave interested parties the opportunity to state 
what development uses they intended for each site. The potential uses could be 
selected from the following:

 Market Housing 
 Older Persons Accommodation 
 Rural Exception Sites / Affordable Housing 
 Starter Homes 
 Self Build / Custom Build 
 Mobile Homes 
 Gypsy and Traveller  Accommodation
 Other 



NON EXEMPT

3

4.7 There were a total of 180 sites submitted during the SHLAA ‘Call for Sites’, 
however, the majority (113) of these had been submitted previously to the 
Council. There were an additional 13 sites submitted that involved an amended 
boundary to previous submissions and a total of 53 new sites that were not 
assessed through previous versions of the SHLAA.

4.8 Respondents could select more than one use of the site from the list outlined 
above. 

Intended Use Number
Market Housing 152
Older Person Housing 77
Affordable Housing / Rural Exception Sites 75
Starter Homes 79
Self-Build 91
Mobile Homes 12
Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Show People Accommodation 5
Other 25

4.9 A number of respondents selected a variety of intended uses, however, the 
majority of respondents selected ‘market housing’ as the intended use for the 
site. The least selected intended uses for sites were mobile home development 
and sites for gypsy, traveller and travelling show people accommodation. 

4.10 In regards to the 53 new sites submitted, they were in the following locations:

Parish / Settlement Location
Alton  Land at Brick Kiln Lane and 

Basingstoke Road, Alton, GU34 
1SP

 Basingstoke Road, Alton, GU34 
4AB

 Windmill House, Windmill Hill, 
Alton, GU34 2SL

Bentworth  The Homestead (land between The 
Vean and The Homestead), New 
Copse, Bentworth GU34 5NR

Beech  Land at Snode Hill House, 19 
Snode Hill, Beech, GU34 4AX

 Land to rear of The Old Farm, 76 
Wellhouse Road, Beech, GU34 
4AG

 Highwood, 35 Snode Hill, Beech, 
GU34 4AX

Bentley  Land off main road, old A31 
situated between Greenfield 
Cottages, Bat Tree Cottage, 
Cedrela and village recreation 
ground, GU10 5HZ

 Land to the east of Rectory Lane, 



NON EXEMPT

4

Bentley, GU10 5HU
Binsted  Binsted Mede, Isington Road, 

Binsted, GU34 4PH
Chawton  Field off A31/Northfield Lane, 

Chawton, GU34 1SN
 Site off Northfield Lane, South of 

Chalk Dell Cottages, GU34 1SW
Clanfield  Land rear of 361/363 London Road, 

Clanfield, PO8 0PJ
Four Marks  Land adjacent to 173,  Winchester 

Road, Four Marks, GU34 5HY
 Ranch Farm Industrial Estate, Willis 

Lane, Four Marks, GU34 5AP
 Raynards Rest, Willis Lane, Four 

Marks, GU34 5AP
 Briar Lodge, Willis Lane, Four 

Marks, GU34 5AP
 Four Marks Gold Course, 

Headmore Lane, Four Marks, GU34 
3ES

 Land adjoining 98 Telegraph Lane, 
Four Marks, GU34 5AW

Grayshott  Stoney Bottom, Grayshott, GU26 
6EX

 Land at Applegarth Farm, 
Grayshott, GU26 6JL

Headley  Land north of Headley Road, 
Headley, GU35

 Garthwaite, Liphook Road, 
Passfield, GU30 7RX

 Land on the south side of Headley 
Road, Headley, GU35 8PS

 Land at Middle Common, Grayshott 
Road, Headley Down, GU35 8LA

 Leighswood, Headley Fields, 
Headley. GU35 8PT

Horndean  Land at Hook Cottage, Pattersons 
Lane, Horndean, PO8 0AH

 Hazelton Farm (southern area), 
Horndean

 Land adj Lovedean Farm, 246 
Lovedean Lane, Horndean, PO8 
9SB

Lindford  Bordon Sewage Treatment Works, 
Canes Lane, Bordon, GU35 0RP

Liphook  Land at High Hurlands Homes 
(north), Gentles Lane, Passfield, 
GU30 7RY

 Sevenoaks, land adj Overstream, 
Church Road, Bramshott



NON EXEMPT

5

 Overstream, Church Road, 
Bramshott

 Millcott Meadow, Mill Lane, 
Passfield, GU30 7RP

 Land at High Hurlands Homes 
(south), Gentles Lane, Passfield, 
GU30 7RY

Medstead  Land at Five Ash Crossroads, 
Lymington Bottom Road, Medstead, 
GU34 5EP

 Land to west of Lymington Barn, 
Lyminton Bottom Road, Medstead, 
GU34 5EW

 Land off Boyneswood Road (Site 
B), Medstead, GU34 5EU

 Land off Boyneswood Road (Site 
C), Medstead, GU34 5EU

 Woodview Place and Timbers, 
Boyneswood Road, Medstead, 
GU34 5DY

Ropley  Land to the east of Longwood 
House, Petersfield Road, Ropley, 
SO24 0HB

 Land to the east of Longwood 
House, Petersfield Road, Ropley, 
SO24 0HB

 Ramblers, Sutton Wood Road, 
Bighton Hill, Ropley, SO24 9SQ

 Land south of Winchester Road and 
west of Berry Hill, Ropley, SO24 
0BS

 Land north of Winchester Road and 
east of Bighton Hill, Ropley, SO24 
0BS

 Land west of Bighton Hill, Bighton 
Hill, Ropley, SO24 0BH

 Land south of Gascoigne Lane and 
Winchester Road, Ropley, SO24 
0BT

Rowlands Castle  Land at Deerleap (north), Rowlands 
Castle

 Land north of Bartons Road, 
Havant, PO9 5NA

Selborne (outside SDNP)  Land at Oakhanger Farm Business 
Park, Oakhanger Road, Oakhanger, 
GU35 9JA

 Coomers Yard, Oakhanger, Bordon, 
GU35 9JU

Whitehill  Land adj The Royal Oak, 
Hollywater, Bordon



NON EXEMPT

6

Worldham (outside SDNP)  West Worldham Village Hall, Little 
Wood Lane, West Worldham, GU34 
3BD

4.11 The SHLAA is now in the process of being updated and will be used by the 
Council and/or Neighbourhood Planning groups to assess the relative merits of 
the most suitable, sustainable and deliverable sites in order to establish which 
sites should be put forward for allocation in the district (outside of the SDNP).  
 

5.0 Implications 

5.1 Resources:  There are no direct resource implications. Costs will be met within 
existing resources and budgets.

5.2 Legal: There are no legal issues to consider. 

5.3 Strategy: The SHLAA will form part of the evidence base that supports the Local 
Plan Part 3 and any emerging Neighbourhood Plans. 

5.4 Risks: None.

5.5 Communications: Once complete, the 2017 SHLAA will be published on the 
planning policy webpages. We will notify District Councillors, Town / Parish 
Councillors and Neighbourhood Planning groups of the documents publication. 

6.0 Consultation: Officers from Development Management are aware of the 
requirement to up date the SHLAA on an annual basis.

Appendices: None

Agreed and signed off by:

Head of Planning: Simon Jenkins 13/10/2017
Legal Services: Nick Leach 13/10/2017
Finance: Andy Miles 09/10/2017
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Angela Glass 16/10/2017

Contact Officer: Adam Harvey
Job Title:       Principal Policy Planner
Telephone:        01730 234193
E-Mail:      adam.harvey@easthants.gov.uk


	Agenda
	5 Joint Wealden Heaths Phase II Special Protection Area Supplementary Planning Procurement
	171004 Appendix Final draft Joint SPA SPD

	6 Residential Extensions and Householders Development Supplementary Planning Document
	7 STRATEGIC HOUSING LAND AVAILABILITY ASSESSMENT (SHLAA) Call for Sites

